





DEVON HISTORY SOCIETY PUBLICATIONS

Cuarrent and back 1ssues of The Devan Historian (exeepl for numbers 7, 11, 15, 168 and
23) ean be oblained (rom Mrs S, Stirling, Devon & Exeter Institution, 7 The Close,
Tixeler EX1 LEZ. (Number 22, which is avaiiable, was nol a ‘normal’ issue, hut was
totally devoled to being owr fivat Biblingraphy). Copies up to and including No 36 ave
priced at £1.70, past free, and from No 37 onwards £2.50. Also available post frec are
fndex to The Deven Historiun Mfor issues 1-15 70p and 16-30 £1.90), and Pevan
Bibliography (1980 T0p, 1981 and 1982 80p each, 1983 und 1984 95p each).
Bibliographijes for move recent years are available from Devon Library Serviees.

The Vice-Chatrman, My John Pike, 82 Hawkins Avenue, Chelston, Torquay TQ2
68, would be glad to acguire copies of the out-of-stack numbers of The Pevon
Historian listed above,

NOTE FOR CONTRIBUTORS

Articles are weicomed by the Hon. Editor to be considered tor publication in The Devon
Fistoriun, Generally the length should not exceed 2,000 - 3,000 words (plus notes and
possible illustrations), although mueh shorler pieces of suitable substance may also be
acceptable, as arve items of informalion concerning museums, local socielies and partic
ular projects being undertaken.

To assist the work of the Editor and the printers please ensure that contributions are
clearly typewritten, on one side of the paper only. with double spacing and adequate
marging, and also, as [ar as possible, that the journal's slyle is followed on such mat-
ters as the vestrained wse af capital letters, initial single rather than double inverted
commag, the writing of the date thus ez [ July 1993, ete,

F.W.L. STOCKDALE - BEGETTER OF THE STOCKDALE
COLLECTION

Ian Stoyle

'This article compioments Ian Stovie’s “An overlonked deseription of Crediton’,
published in The Devor Historion 45, October 1992)

The publication of Samuel Ruwe’s deseription of Crediton in 1841 seems to eall for some
aceount of the man who caused (L to be written. Who aclually was FW.L. Stockdale, the
begetter of the Stockdale Collection? Even if he had not campleted the gazettecr of
Devon, hatl he completed anything else?

With the help of Mrs Sheila Stivling, the Libracian of the Devon and Exeter
Institution, the information readily available was gatheved together, The writer’s full
name was Frederick Wilton Litchficld Stackdale. His notes had been presented to the
Exeter Diocesan Architectural Sncicty in 1858 by his son, F.C. Stockdale. Questions
were posed about him us Tar back as 1904 when Dy Brushficld! asked what had become
of a futuve Historival and Topmgraphical Description of the County of Decon. advertised
on 1842 on a broadside, or broadsheet together with the numes of some 700 sub-
seribers, by ‘EW.L. Stockdale, Bag., (lale Assistant Military Secretary to the
Honourahle East India Company), author of Excresions through Cornwall, Antiquilics
of Kent, vte, ote” This had produced only 2 brief reply that it had never been published
and that the notes had been domated to the Diocesan Architectural Society. And that
seemed to be all that had been set down i print about him.

Hawever, the Institution yielded further evidence, The letlers in the Collection™ hzd
been written between 1840 and 1842, and had been addressed to Stockdale at Manor
Place, Walworth, London, which fitted with his choice of a Limdan hookseller. Smath,
Flder, & Cn, o receive further subseriptions. Wonderfud to velate, Mes Stirling was able
to produce one of the very broadsides that Brushfield had enguired about, which car-
rvied both a deseription of the projected work (p. 11 and the list of the subseribers. As
punctwited, a reference on it to ‘one hundred engravings, from original drawings, did
not, strictly speaking, say that Stockdale himself was the artist, but Broshhicld had
wiongly transeribed it to give it that sense. This now caused him to be sought in 2 fresh
place, the Institution’s reference works of artists, local and national, and the search
wits suecessful, Somers Cocks? 1sted some prints of Devon by RW.L. Stackdale, pre-
swnably the son. Fisher's Dictianary of Watercolowr Paintvrs ¥ contained a short entry:

Frederick Wilton Lichbeld Stockdale (1, 1808-48); nssistant to military secretary

East India Company; an antiguarian; probably lived in Kept; landscape and build-

mgs. (V&AL

The brevity of the enlry conlivmed how Jittle was known about him. His eccupation
could have heen doevived from the broadside, while the Kent connection was most prob-
ably a puess based on his apparently having written a book about the Antiguities of
that county. That some of his work was ot Lhe Victoris and Albert Museum twenty
yoars age was fresh information. One wonders on whal grounds TROB and 1848 were
chosen as limits for the Lime in which he was ‘flourishing’. If accurate, they suggested
tie was born about 1780 and placed his death between 1848 and 1854,

Finally the Devon and Exeter Institution provided prool that his works woere not all
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regtsters that happen to have been transcribed but not in thoge that have never

been transeribed. In consequence its coverage is uneven. Entries are telescoped ag

well, so that the ceeupations of bridegrooms or fathers, for example, are not includ-
ed. It is nevertheless an invaluable tool for genealogists.

The London references ave all to London Fiche C0O368, LG

9 Dictionary of Nationad Biography, LIV (1898)

10 Cornwall Fiche A0186, £.G.1. "The manuscript transcript from which this entiry was
taken is in the Library of the Dovon and Cernwall Record Socicty, ‘Urcton’ was
found to be simply a misreading by an American Mormaon of a less than copperplate
‘Wilton' in Lhe English transcriber's hand. Stockdale’s abode at Lanivet was stated
Lo be ‘St. Bennett’s”. He provides an illustration of ‘St. Bennet’s Priovy’ at Lanivet in
the Excursions, and describes it as a family residence developed from the remains
of an ancient monastery and maintaining its Golhic style.

I Swrrey Fiche 0285, LG

12 In the transeript of the Lanivet baptismal register Stockdale’s rank or occupation
was enteved as ‘gentloman’
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NEW CONTRIBUTORS

Winifred O, Greenaway, who has contributed to leading national magazines, is current-
by writing the history of the Kennaway family of Escot.

C.A. Lewig’s Doctoral thesis was entitled: “The education of the adult in Plymouth
1908-194 1. His final appointment was Deputy Director of the Department of Adult
and Continuing Education at Exeter Untversity.

THE KENNAWAYS OF ESCOT

Winifred O, Greenaway

Sir John Kennaway, first baronet, of Hyderabad, returned through ill-health from
India in 1794 and within a few months boughl Escot and its 4,000 acres from Sir John
Yonge, MP for Honilon. The houge, Paniles from Ollery St Mary, had been built for his
grandfather in about 1680, to the design of Robert Hooke. !

Twenty-one years had passed since fourteen-year obd John and his brother Richard,
a vear older, had sailed to India on the advice of theiv father, an Exeter woollen mer-
chant.? They survived a shipwreel off the mouths of the Ganges and went on to make
suceessful careers. John, in the military service of the East India Company, became
ADC to the Marquess Cornwallis. who appeinted him Resident to the court of the
Nizam ol Hyderabad. There he led the long negotintions which culminated in a diplo-
malic victory over Tipu Sultan, ‘Tiger of Mysore’.? For these services, Cornwallis,
Governor-General and Commander-in-Chiel, recommended a baronetey, which was
granled i 1791 He also pave Kennaway the larger-than-life portrait of himsel{ by AW,
Devis, which is still in the Hbrary al Iscot.

Richard made a considerable fortune in the civil service, becoming Second Member
of the Board of Trade in Bengal. tHe returned to England two years after John and lived
at [iscot until his death in 1833, He never married, and the account books show if was
he who paid most of the bills for the eslate.

Sir John began improvements to his new house at once, employing James Wyatt 11
for the interior, and John Veiteh (who had heen brought trom Scotland by St Thomas
Dyke Acland to lay out the gardens at Killerton) to prepare *A Plan of Roads at Escot”.
In 1737 he married Charlotte. daughter of James Amyatt, former nabob and MP for
Southampton, whose futher was o surgeon in Totnes. Before they had completed their
Family of seven sons and five daughters Escot was destroyed by a fire in 1808,
Although plans were made soon after W rebuild on Lthe same site, this was nol done
until nearly thirty years laler. The brothers, sullerving Iatterty from blindness, both
died in contentad old age before Lhe building was finished. Meanwhile, the family speni
time at Fairmile, on the estate, and al Fort House in Sidmouth. A recent plague on the
building, now known as Church House, records the connection,

An impression of the estate at this period can be gained from Peadennis hy
Thackeray, who spent school holidays at Larkbeare, rented by his mother and stepfa-
ther from Siv John, Repairs to the farms were carvied out as needed,® improvements
continued, and the gardens began to assume their present layout. There is evidence®
that Capability Brown influenced the design of the parkland, much of which sarvives
until now.

The second baronet succeeded in 1836 and seems to have carried out his father’s
plans. The chief difference between the old and new building was the raising of the
house above the ground by means of a tervace to the south and west of it, and the shifl-
ing of the entrance from south to east. The architect chosen was this Kennaway's con-
temporary, Henry Roberis,” who shared his deep religious convietions. This may bave
influenced the decision by Sir John (the name, John, was given to ail the eldest sons} to
build the church of St Philip and St James. Beautifully sited at the southern edge of
the park, and onc of the best of its time in Devon, its memorials give a biography of the
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family. Unigue in its originality is Lhe window to his only daughler, Emily Charlotte,
with Devon and estate flowers and her musieal instruments telling a peignant chapter
of family history. The church cost £2,000, and Ezcot became a separate pavish in 1844,

The stables, almost as costly, were completed at this time and a new carringe ‘vellow,
picked out black and well-varnished, the erest on each side panel” was ordered from
Hayman of Exeter. Sir John, eduealed al Winchester and Trinity College, Camlbnidge,
married Frances, daughter of Thomas Kingscole, of Kingscole Park, Gloucestershire.
Judging from diaries of their children, they lived not only a happy country life bul one
devoted to active and serious public service. Sheriff of Doevon in 1866, the second
barvenet did a great deal for the Chureh Missionary Society. the Pastoval Aid Society,
the British and Foreign Bible Society (his father had founded the Honiton branch) and
forr many other phitanthropic movements and loea) chartties, He also inherited a great
enthusiazm for the Jrd Voluntear Battalion of the Devonshire Regiment.

These interests were passed on to his son who suceeeded in 1873, After Harrow and
a firet class in law and modern history at Balliol College, Oxford, he was called to the
Bar, A measure of his compassionate nature may be gauged by g journey he made to
the southern United States, six months after the end ol the Civil War, The Nashedlie
Courant reported his arrival ‘on a visit of amusement and general information’. He
toured the battluﬁt‘lda and visited General Fisk Lo find out the progress being made in
frecing the slaves.” He marvied Frances Arbuthnot after his return and just before
eloction as MP for East Devon, which he represented (rom 1870-85. From then until
1910 he represented the Honiton diviston and was Father of the Flouse for the last two
years. Justice of the Peace and Depuly Lieutenant for Devon, he was made a Privy
Councitlor in 1897 and CB in 1902,

The estate Hlouvigshed, famed lor ils splendid fernery, stocked by Sir William
Cave.*ts tower gardens made a ‘fatry-like foreground o the prettiest of perspectives’.”
An item from the garden account book of 1874 indicates the seale of bree-planting -
1500 trees at an extra payment to the men of {8 shillings pex L0,

[n 1906, 1,600 friends and constituents contributed towards a portrait of 3ir John as
a gift to his wife, By William Ouless, it shows him, seated, in riding clothes, riding erop
in his right hand by the end of his flowing beard. Family tore has it that this was the
tnspiration for Lear's Hmerick “There was an old man with a beard’, one of the less
usual tributes to one whe always gave of his best.

After war service in India, Mesopotamia and in Naval InteHigence, the lourth Sie
John sueceeded in 1919, Following Havrow and Balliol, he had travelled to the Far
[iast before being called to the bar. He relurned to the newly-opened Trans-Siberian
Hailway, bringing the rare azaleas and rhododendrons to add to the amily collection
and still to be seen in "The Wikderness',

The new baronct set about replanting the trees felled for use in the war, mechanizing
the estate while at the same time fulfilling the now traditional public duties of JP,
Deputy Licutenant, Honovary Coloned of the 8th Battalion the Devonshire Regiment,
Member of the House of Laity and many others. During the 1939-45 war Eseot housed
evacuees and was a home for Torty bombed-out children ¢ared for by the Waifs and
Strays’ Soclety. Sir John married, in 1931, Mary Felicity Ponzonby, daughter of the
Revd. Chancellor Stewart Gl Ponsonby. As & thirteen-year old she had spent a holiday
al Escol tn 1910, keeping a diary:

‘We went to stay at Sir Johin Kennaway’s beautiful house, which is survounded by a

large park. In this parle ave some beautiful beech Leees planted in cirveles and difler-

Lo

enl shaped groups...the Horse Shoe Clump was pianted about 200 years ago by M

Lock (sict who knew exaclly the right distance apart to plant them, so they have

grown straight and tall.®

Their grandson looks after them now ag the estate emerges from severe post-war dif-
heulties and the burden of death duties, He founded the prosperous Bscol Aguaculiure,
which [inances the restoration of the estate, The Yeovil-Exeter railway in 1860
changed the estale’s houndaries a little, the war cut it down to the parkland, The pub-
lic can now enjoy Lhe walle past the wild boar te The Wilderness, see the otters and the
Pet Centre and the restored Victorlan Rose Garden.

The family erest is smrmounted by an eagle with open wings, in its beak a small
shield with a naturally coloured sun’. The motto is Ascendam, { shall avise.

Notes

1. R.Hooke, 1635-1703; chemist; physicist; architect; City Surveyor after the Great
Five; inventor of the microscope, quadrant and marine harometer.

2. William Kennaway was son of Roberl who came from Fife in Seotland, becoming a
weaver. The family moved to Exeter in 1713, William was elected a Freeman of the
City and of the Tuckers' Company in L1715, (Youings, Tuckers' Hall, Excter 1868).

3. The Indian Oflice Records Library holds the 586 folios of these in Kennaway'’s wril-
g, The private latlers reveal the views o Clive ele of o hughly intelligent, compas-
sionate public servant.

4. Lazenby, lan: 18th century soldier and 19th century genileman, a biography of Sir
John Kennaway, (Dissertation presented for BA, Exeler University 1984},

5. Keomaway Papers, Fseot,

6. Hoberts, 1803-76, pupil of Fowler, worked with Sir Robert Smirke, pioncar of work-
ing-clugs housing,

7. His book On Sherman'’s Track is a well observed aceount of this, The Devon Record
Office holds his photographic record of the same jowrney.

8. Sir Witliam Cave, politician, honorary member of the Zoological Society and anti-
slavery campaigner.

9. Kennaway Papers, newspaper clipping 14 Seplember 1877,

10. John Locke, 163‘} 1704 English philosopher, (viend ol Sir Walter Yonge,
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THURLESTONE PARISH COUNCIL
DEVELOPMENT OF A PARISH COUNCIL IN RURAL
DEVON OVER A HUNERED YEARS

Neville C. Oswald

The Tharlestone Parish Council was formed in 1894, following the passage ol the Loeal
Covernment Act of that year, Thus it beeame part of the new structure of district and
parish cauncils which supplemented the county councils that had been established six
years helore. [L undertook varions civil affairs thal had previously been administernd
by the purish chureh council. Minute books of its meetings bacl to 1894 have suvvived
andd farm the basts of this article, together wilth information ehtained from many
parishioners who have served on the council or known the distriet for most of their
lives. From these various sources, a fairly accurale assessment may e made of the
ways in which the council has atlempted to undersiand and apply the neeessarily
tedious democratic process and record its triumphs and disappointments.

During Lhe past century, Thurlestone has undergone consideruble changes in hous-
ing, communications, social services and standards of iving, Lthe population, which
stood at about 350 1y the 1880s, hax akpoest trebled. Yetl Talf a dozen family-owned
farms still occupy most of the three square miles thal comprise the parish, which
includes the hamlets of Buckland and Bantham.

The early years

With four of the original seven members aof the counctl also being elected to the new
parish church council, the two having a conuman chairman, the prospects for a barmo-
nius coexistence appeared good. Cortainly, theve snems to have been none of the disar-
ray seen in many ports of the country ad landowners and the elergy objected to intru-
sios on their authority,! but there were difforenees over the disposal of records and
documents held by the church. The Vestry Book, with minutes of meetings back to
LB27, was claimed by hoth; it contained detuils of, for example, howsing, roads, rales,
water and sewerape, all of which were to pass to the new councedl, teaving the church
with the village achoal. church house and variows charities, Eventually, the Devon
County Council (DCC) was called upon to adjudicate and ruled that the book should he
kept by the parish counell in the iron chest it had bought for purpose.

Fhnutes of the hrat wmeetings, held teregularly every month or two, vecord little more
than the eleetion of officers; oversecrs were appointed to aseist in the fixing of rates
which were tevied and colected by the rating authority, the Kingshridge Rural District
Council {(KRBCY. The only item of substance arose in 1885 when the eouncil bad belore
it thirteen applications for allotments, each asking for about hall an acre. Mr dJonkins,
a lundowner, was asked whether he had any suitable land available: he olfersd o seven
acre sile ab an annual rent of two pounds an acre. Laler in the vear, the clerk te the
councid wrote to him staling that he had been unable Lo ratse o guorm al Uhe Tast
three council meetings and apologised for the delay. Mr. Jenkins veplied that he hud lel
the field to another applicant and that he had no other land available,

By the year 1900, the council had settled into a routine. Mectings woere held quarter-
Iy at 7.30 p.m. in the winters and 8.30 in the summers, which can hardly have suited

members at the fiirming community, Gew of whom, alter an early stavl and a long day in
the fivlds, would be inctined (o trudge a mile or more aleng primitive country lanes.
Indend, meelings varely atiracted as many as half a dozen and those who did attend
wore the same councitlors who were ordinarvily veappointed year afler year.

From 10 to 1974

Highways and byways By far the most important subjoct te claim the attention of
the eouncil [rom ils inceplion watil the 19708 was the wmaintenance of highways and
byways. Usually, half the minutes of guarterly meetings wore devoted to them, some-
times more. Seme four or five new items were often on the agenda. cach ene ovdinanily
taking several meetings to resolve by the time the appropriate authorities, iwluding
the divisional surveyor, had been consulted. The biggest problem fay with keeping the
roads open to Kingshridee, the nearest lown and some Tony miles distant. In the sum-
mer they were overgrown with hedges and in the winter hilly stretehos were so slip-
pery that loaded carts had ditliculty in negottating them, This mennt freguent tegquests
ta the KRDC which referred items involving highways to the DCC fia action and con-
tested with Thurlestone financial responsibility for maintaining byraads and cart
tracks.

When in 1948 the coastal highway around the Links Hotel shawed signs of subsi-
dence, the main route to Lhe adjoining parish of South Miltan was clased to traftie, The
councit immediately started a long bhattle for its restoration but, lacking rhe autharity
to take eflective agtion, it achieved little. Eventually i 1974 the road collagsed and the
1200 built a tine new road inland of the hotel. A quite dilfecent situation avese over
public footpaths, which were the subject of endless controversy. The council tried to
ensure that they were properly maitained by their owoers who, of eourse. were well
known to them. Yet its position was anomalous in that it had the power but not the
duty to vipair them and therefire could not be made Hable for their condition if they
il into disrepair, In the 1930s, for example, My Cole flatly refused to vemove a tree
that was blocking o patk on his prapecty. My Tribe vesented having to cut back sach
veay shrubs thal were hlocking a path. A herd of cattle repeatedly dislodged ap to 150
Fert of stepping stones on a particularly muddy streteh of pathiway belween
Thurlestime und Banthaen, The tliceat of an appeat to the guarter sessions was usually
cmough Lo vesatve such probiems.

These conlroversies may scon now to have been {rivial but at least they had the
virtee thal their ordering was within the compelence of the freely elected council at »
Lite whoen 1§ was straggling for recaguilion,

Weaser From its inception the council was faced with ditficultics in the distribution of
water. A hand pump and @ well in the village street at Thurlestone supplied nearby
households: clsewhere there were o dozen pumps in use, most of which may still be
identified. Buckland, with its houses seabtered along the sides of a valley was poorly
served. The council tried to persuade the KRDC to aceept the principle that it should
recover the cost of purchasing, laying antl maintaining the supply Lo any part of the
parish hy charging a rate to those who benefitted. Having failed, it recommended that
the work be done and paid for by a special rate vontributed by the whole parish,
Meanwhile, in the 1920s, the privately owned Evans Estates controtled most of the
water supply and agreed with the couneil to charge property owners a fised perecntage
of their rateable value, This scheme continued until the 1960s when. mainly through
the instigation of the chaivman of the council, waler irom Dartmuoor by way of the Avon
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dam was connected to the parish by  six inch pipe.

Sewerage  With carth closets and eesspils the ovdinary means of disposal of sewage
in the early years, the counetl employed a sewape disposal wagon which visited the vil-
lage irregularly and, in the view of the council, churged excessive rates. Following an
authreak of diphtheria in 1922, the sanitary inspector recommended improvement of
the primitive sewer leading to the sea, half a mile distant, and drainage of the offensive
stagnant pool at the bottom of the village stroet in Thurlestone. With the approval of
the Minmistry of Health and the KRDC, a new sea outflow was built in 1932, but it was
never satisfactory; having been designed for & population of 225, it wax quile inade-
gquate when swmmer visitors swelled the population to a thousand.

Howsing  The eouneil was in almost continaous negotiation with the DCC gver the
provision of council houses. [t had the responsibility for seeking suitable land and
advising on water supply and sewevage; as new houses beearne available, it prepared
lists of applieants and selected suitable tenants. Yot iL received the biggest vebufl to its
authority in 1965 when it was asked to review plans drawn up by the VOO for 104
detached private houses with garages on Lthe Mead, adjacent to the village of
Thurlestone. The couneil ealled a speeial mesting and organised o refevendwn of the
whole parish, each showing & greal majority against the plans, but to na avail.
Building proceeded, the council concluding with regret that it could offer no oftective
opposition.

Public services From the beginving the postal and telegraph services attracted
much attention. The hwstallation of sub-post offices, for which Lhe couneil offered to pay
part of the cost, and the regular delivery of mail were essential for the day-to-day busi-
ness of the community. As eacly as 1898 a telegraph service was requested and was
dudy installed with rather primitive apparatus and connected 1o a few houses, By the
L9205 public opinion tavaured call buxes of which three wore instalied.

The police have conaistently had good relations with the people of Thurlestone,
where there has been little crime over the years. Offers of streel lighting have heen
repentedly refiused. so that the rural nature of the place may be preserved. Similarly,
the provision of a car park and vellow lines on the roads have not been recommended.

The provision of fire services came under review in 1937, fallowing a sevious five in a
private bouge, The Chief Five Officer from Bxeter found insulficient power for a hose in
the existing hydrants bul did not recommend the purchase of expensive eguipment
which usually fell into neglect and decay after the early enthusiasm bad passed off. It
was agreed that for the time being emphasis should be placed on Lryving to extinguish
fires in thelr eavly stages, pending the arrival of the Jire services.

Despite these diverse responsibilities, the eonneit at first lacked the means of obtain-
ing an informed vpinion other than through official channels. The difficuity was not
overcome until 1947 when the Natienal Association of Parish Councils was formed
which gave il more sny in foeal affaivs and preatly assisted the Maud Commission of
1969 in emphasising the importance of parish councils in the oversight of anyvihing
that affected the well-being of their parigshes.?

1974 and after
As long ago as the 1940y, the three tiers of local government proved to be cumber-
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some and inefficient. In the following years the county and district councils inereased
in size and impartance whilst the parish couneils were virtually ymored. The process
continved until the Loeal Government Act of 1972 which drastically reduved the num-
har of local authorities and ereated new district councits, It also withdrew personal
heatth services, water and sewerage [roin local governaient and reduced local influence
on planning and housing.”

For the councillors of Thurlestone, the new act meant the lass of the rural distriet
cauncit at Kingsbridge whose members were well known o them and of whom two
were their own representatives, Instead, the South Hams District Council (SHDC)
opencd at Totnes, some 17 miles distant, in 1974 with une councillor representing
Thurlestone and Lwo neivlibourtag parishes. The SHDC was soon carried alomg by its
own momentum with the proliferation of commitiees and a degree of complexity that
was {1 beyond the previous experience of the cosnciliors at Thurlestone. In a sense, o
new form of communication had come about. Whereas previousty the couneil commum-
cated with whoover it wished, whether it be the chief constable in Exeter or o manister
in London, it new (mund itsolf confronted by a formidable array of professioual ollicials
and clected menbers at Tolnes,

The effect of the SHDC in the annual general meetings was dramalic. Allendancs
rose from half a dozen to 50 or 80; representatives from the DOC, the SHIDEC, the police
and olthers regulavly attended and made stalements. Mr. Simon Day, County
Councillor, repeatedly urged free communication between these varvions bodies, Indecd.
a fair measure of goodwill was established, but the council was still smarting over the
housing estate on the Mead and was further incensed by the building of more blocks of
flats on Merchani’s Field, adjoinine the village of Thurlestone. Coincidentally, the
gewage system was beeoming increasingly inndeguate. with sewers blowing their cov-
ers in stormy weather. The council ageressively pressed for improvements but was
informed by South-West Waler (SWW), in 1986, that they would be very costly and Lhat
Thurlestone’s priorvity raling was low. Soon, the Nature Conservancy Council and the
National Bivers Authority were involved in cansultation, The couneil erected nolices on
the beach warning bathers of polution, sehich was greater than on any other beach in
the South Hams. The SWW, hearing in mind the council's comments, tostalled a gplen-
did system in 1992 with a targe hobding tank and a conduit and a reconstructed treat-
inent plant at South Milton.

A retrospect

Throughout the existence of the council, elected members have atmost always been
drawn from men wha have spent the greater part ot the whole of their lives in the dis-
trict. [n zuch o smoll community, their selection was hound to be a personal mutter
Indecd, they were called upon to give a personal service by keeping o wateh voall
aspects of purochiad life and being available to receive suggestions and give advice,
They were aware of the extent and distribution of local resources, from which they
earned their Lliving, and recognised the importance of maintaining n ready aceess to
Kingsbridge and an elficient postal and telegraph service. These leatures suill abtain,

Divested of sonw of their former vesponsibilities by the Act ol 1972, the purpose of
rural parish couneils may be questioned. First and most impuctant is their function in
salepuarding local democrney, something which was ingrained in the British character
Lo genet'ations by parish church eouncils and latterly has been preserved by pavish
councils. For the peaple of Thurlestone, the difference between having their own coun-

15



cillors to consult rather than nebulous figures in Kingshridge and now in Tolnes, has
been Lhe difference between Lheir being able to aire their views and having to accept
adicts from afar. Indeed, local apioions ave still important, whether upon local initia-
tives or upon initiatives that have oviginated elsewhere. The council is able to seek
parochial opinions with case, tn a way that county and district councils might hesitale
ter de, expecially whon there is a political aspect.

Councillors nd Thurlestone have always piven much thme and thought to their duties.
They may have been inclined to vegard innovalions with suspicion, preferring (o retain
the sfafux guo which they undersiand, yet they have been essenlial Lo the erderly
administration of the parish.
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THE UNIVERSITY OF PLYMOUTH - DEJA VU?

C.A. Lewis

Now that the University of Plymouth has been ssiablished, it is perhaps worth reflect-
ing that something similar nearly happened over half a century ago. The first pubhic
airing of the matter was by AW, Clayden, the Mvincipal of the Royal Albert Memorial
Collere in Bxeter. He was also President of the Devonshire Assaciation and chose thig
subject [or his presidential address to the association in 1915.' He suggested an
arrangement on the lines of the University of Wales which was a federation of several
colleges. In the Sputh Woest he saw Exeter and Plymouth as two constituent colleges,
with the Camborne Schedd of Mines making a third; other institutions such as the
recently established Seale Hayne Agricultural College and the teacher training ele-
ments of Excter and the two diocesan teacher training colleges of St Lulux's and Trure,
while not yet eapable of Collegre statug would add breadth to the federation as o whole,

Such an arvangement would deal with the fundarmental problem that eaeh instilu-
tion eonld offer only a amalf range of subjects though these could be considered comple-
mentary: Exeter was inclined to the arts while Plymonth’s Technical Schools were obvi-
ously science orientaled. The specialisations of the others - mining, agricalture and
education - would not clash with this pattern. The federation could be expected to
attract financial support both tocal and national but it was clear that national support
would not materialise without evidence of substantial local support.

A Commitiee for the Furtherance ol Higher Education in the South West was estab-
lished in 19177 under the chaivmanship of Sir Henry Lopes {later Lord Roboroughy,
Chairman of Devon County Counedl, and conlaining represeatatives of the colleges, the
local authorities and such of the goud and great in academic fields as could be found.
Although some financial support was achieved mainly from Devon and Exeter the com-
mittee ran quickly into a rather different ohstacle: the opposition — if not hostility — to
their ideas by the board, and particularly the Minister of Education.? Federation was
not a favoured word in Whitehail even then!

Undaunted, the eampaign, particularty to swiden lncal support, continued. Although
the federal idea seemed attractive, in the difficult finauncial climate of the immediate
post war years, eucl institution was abviously concerned to ensure its own funding; in
short the bird in the hand had clear attractions over its move distant rival.
Nevertheless Plymouth did contribute to the idea hecause it believed that the estab-
lishment of o local degree-giving institution would help stimulate itx own scheme to
develop the technical schools into an engineering college.

But matters were not standing still at Exeter. A means of ending the geopraphical
strait jacket of the sole site at Gandy Street had been found. The Streatham estate on
the novth-western autskirts of the city had been offered for sale in 1919, Aller several
incffective attempts to secure the site for the college, a former Mayor of Exeter, W.IL
Reed offered in 1921 to buy it for the college if university status was achieved. ' A fur-
ther move, the suggestion that the aspiring university shonld be guided by an estab-
lished university - in this case Oxtord -found favour wilh the minister. These two fac-
tors plus the improved local funding pesition, since Cornwall had now joined Devan,
Exeter and Plymouth, seemcd o tip the seale. Afler a further inspection of Exeter the
minister agreed in 1922 to veeognise the University College of the South West though
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its students would sLill Lake University of Londan degroes.”

This naturally caused Plymoulh (o enguire where it now stood in these arrange-
ments and in 1924 aspecial joint comunilbee reported Lhat Lhe following elements wero
planned for Plymouth:® a Faculty of Eagineering (covering all branches including aero-
nautical aud naval architecburey; a epartment of Keonomics and Commerce; and s
Department of Law, The existing schoal of Pharmacy at Excter was to be moved to
Plymoulh and sections of muin departments at Exeter were to be established at
Plymouth in Malhemakics, Physics, Chemistry, Blology, Modern Languages, History
and Geography. [ntegration was (o be zuch that students might attend a first year in
Plymouth and complete their degree v arts subjeets in Exeter, or vice versa in science
and engineering subjects. Plymouth had been mentioned as a natural location for a
Schonl of Medicine in a repart of 1919,7 thaugh there was no veference to Lthis possibili-
ty now. This spunded very encouraging but in reality waos astonishingly ambitious. At
Plymouth only the technical 2ehaols engaged in anything like higher eduealion and the
city was producing no wore than fifteen students per year taking degree courses.® The
friulty of this base was underlined when later that year the University Grants
Commiltee stated that it was nat prepared to fund the Plymoulh section of the
Ulimiversity College unless there was evidence of a minimum volume of work of univer-
sity stondard.”?

Exetler was perfectly prepoved to help improve this situation, Development of the
Lechniceal schools was Lo be managed hy™ branch committee consisting of equal repre-
sentalion [rom Plymoeuth’s higher education sub committee and ixeter University
College Couneil. More divectly o somewhat bizarre arrangement provided for the
Principal of Ixeter 1H Hetherington to supervise the work of the schools despite the
existenee of a prineipat in Plymouth, and for Plymonth to pay i proportion of his salarvy

for this work in addition to the granl it was already making to Exeter.!® The Schaol of

Pharmacy was daly translerred to Plymouth and in the follnwing year the Department
of Ecomomics and Commerce was established.'? Initinlly the Departmental Head,
4. Sykes, had travelled from Exeter but when Astor Hall of Residence was opened in
1929 (hy George Bernard Shaw), he became ibs first Warden. Manor Lodge, as Astor
Hall was originally called. bad been purchased with a 210,000 grant by Lord Astor
specifically for the purpose of providing such a residence.’ This was particularly gen-
erous since only six years before Lord Astor had crveated a scholarship lund vielding
£200 anmualky.

This was probably the high water mark of the endeavour in Plymouth, though the
Lide ebbed only gradually. Although the supervision of the teehnieal sehools was contin-
ted by Hetherington’s successor, HLH. Moberley, for the bare two years of his appoint-
ment, his suceessor in 1926, John Murray, handed it on to his deputy!® and eight years
later the arrangement ended. In the same year, 1934, Sykes ceased to be Warden of
Astor Hall and veturned to Exeler, though he continued some teaching in Plymouth. In
1936 Plymouth noted with satisfaction the recogaition of the Technical College by the
University of Lendon for the teaching of B.Se(Engineeving)!® and two years laler in
October marked the state of its relationship with the University College of the Soulh
West by passing a resolution that Plymouth Edueation Authorily assume full responsi-
bility for the organisation and control of alt technieal education provided by the City. '8
In the following month the University College and Higher Technology Branch
Committee, consisting of representatives of the City Council and the University
College and which had overseen relations hetween Plymouth and the University
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College, ceased to exist. Co-operation between Plymouth and Excter ou the aviginal
lines was clearly at an end and though Plymouth representatives vontinued to be
appointed to the University College’s Courl of Governers and Council this was Little
more than a token. Both went their separate ways: Exeter to develop the Streatham
estate on which the University would eventually be based and Plymouth to develop its
Technical College. Cynically it could be said that Exeter sinw the opportunity of ‘going it
alone’ and took it, but it is also possible to argue that at that time it wos premalure for
Plymouth to attempt more than the gradual conselidation of the Teclmcal College; also
that at a time when higher educalion mstitulions were expected Lo caler primarily for
loeal needs, demand in Plymouth would not have supported more than this

Il is unlikely that Clayden’s address in 1215 was intended to be prophotic but
although the pack has heen shuftled vather differently, his bluc-print has boen fulfiBed
to & surprising degree, except that Plymouth and Exeter do not have constituent col-
leges but full universities. ‘Ib them have been atéracted the gmaller institutions: Seale-
Hayne and (twe newcomers) Rolle and Exeter College of Arvt to Plymuuth, while Exeler
has absorbed St Lule's, the Camborne School of Mines and most recently lormed an
affiliation with the College of St.Mark and St.John. Both have post graduate medcal
schools. Clayden had envisaged & third eollege (7 vead University now)-in Comwall-but
the present division would seem to have ruled that oud; though possibly not lor ever,
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Todav nn amusement arcade but upstaivs has a pariial glass voof and windows
inset in Lhe eeiling — a studio of some kind? The artist W. Widgery was advertising
in 186 ‘apposite the Museum’ a freo exhibition at his ‘studio” {veter Flying le;f.
18 August L86GY pde). Perhaps Henry Brice or Arthur Dawe wore at some time
using it as a stedio. [t awaits further investigation.

Fxefor Fiving Post. 24 Qctober 1860 ple.

Fivoter Flving Pogt. 7 November 1860 p4b

Exeter Fiving Post. 18 January 1880 pdd; 2 January 1861 ple,

Exeter Fiying Post. 5 December 1960 pSb.

Exeler Flying Post. 30 May 1860 pde. Angel had been Photographers to the Exeter
Sehool of Ark and to the Devon and Cornwall Photographic Socety’ in 1855 as the
West of England Photographic [nstitution (£FP 19 April 1855 pdf). I:[C took
"Talhotypes, and gold xceondhand apparatus, having moved Hrom D2 F_u:'::l Street to
open al 5 High Strect by early June 1807 (EFP 7 June 1855 pdf.) See The Oevon
Histarfan -4, October 1991, pl9, footnote L

Exeter Fiving Post. 16 January 1861 pie.

Billing's Divectory of Devon 1857 pp52, 77.

Exefor Fiving Pust. 29 January 1862 pib: 5 Septembor TGO pAd,

Exeter Flving Post. 20 March 1861 pde.

Exeter Flying Post. 9 Qctober 1861 pdd,

e.g. fxeter Flying Post. 11 & 26 Dogember 1861,

Fiveter Flying Post. 11 December 1861 p8e-d,

Foxvter Elving Posé. 3 Decombor 1862 pe,

Fxvier Flying Post. 26 June 1861 pdd.

Exeter Plving Post. 4 December 1861

Devon Weekie Times. 1S November 1561,

Devon ‘r‘i’?:chi':\_' Fimes. 11 October 1861, Fev died 11 Feb, 1877 aged 53 (FIP 14 Feb.
18773

. See FExeter Flying Poct. 19 June 1861 p8d. Alse, Trewman’s Pocket Jovrnal of

Eveter 1860 p244, 1861 pZho, for address at 103 Sidwell Street,

Devon Weekly Times. 20 December L1861,

Exeter Flving Post. 7 May p4d & 11 June pdf 1862,

Fxeter Flving Post. 27 May 1563 ple.

Fveter Flving Post. § Angust 1963 pld.

Bt Fiving Post. 9 September 1863 pde.

Fveter Fiving Post. 20 Aped 1864 pde.

Exeter Fiving Pose. 22 Mareh 1865 pdb.

On Lhis deercase, nnd rabinet cards, see Helmut Gernsheim, op. cit., p202,

Exeter Flying Post, 1 August 1866 pdd.

Moriss’s Directory for Devonshire 1870, Advertisement section p266.

Fvoter Fiving Post. 20 Awgust 1873 pde, ‘ .
Exeter Flving Post. 27 Febrouavy 1878 phc. The Westeountry Studies Lll)ra‘:‘_v_ s KFP
newspaper file (Exeter! shows him in partnership with WS, Sugden as Williams &
Sueden’. in 1877 at 88 Queen Street LEFP 11 April 1877 pabi. He sepavated from
Suj_.‘:l,lt_'n_ wha remained at 88 Queen Street and had financial px'obiems by late 1478
(EFP 20 November 1878 pShn Willinrns upened his stadio 1H Mavch (£FF 13 March
1878

Fxeter Klying Post each January: 1873 £58 18s.0d.. 1874 a7 152, Od.; 1875 £47 7s.
Od.: 1876 £46 178, Od.. 1477 £45 4s. 0d.; 1878 £34 05,040 1879 £1 195, 6d.

Deidge’s Western Connfivs Hiustrated Annual. Plymouth 189 pp2i8-31.
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REVIEWS

{(Readers are advised Lheir opinions expressed by reviewoers are their own, aod nod
necessarily those of the Editor or of the Devon History Sacicty as a wholel.

Medieval Art and Architecture at Exeter Cathedrval. Ed. Francis Kelly The
British Archaeological Association 1991, 228pp, 40 plates Hardback $41.50 [SBN
NH286 27 3. Paperback £31.50 1SRN 901286 26 5

This volume is the eleventh in the British Archaeological Associabion sevies of
medieval art and architecture conference transaclions, each based upon a dilferent
localily or building, usually a eathedral. It folloves upon the 1985 conterence al Exeter
whean Lhe papers which comprise it wore presented.

As might be expectod in this conlext, the cssays relute more to the history of the
structure ol the cathedral than to its use, Audroy Frskine summarises the cathedral
records as they relate to this aspect. John Allan has two contributions: the first on the
building stones of the cathedral, the second, with Stuart Blaylock as co-author on the
structural history of the west lront tLhis includes o reproduction of the Fxeter
Archacological Field Unit's magniticent measared drawing of Lhe front with its sculp-
ture) and these essays will not need commending to those who have been privileged to
hear his tour de force on-site lecturve on Uns subject, This essay is complemented by
two others on the West Front; the first on its polychromy by Eddie Sinclair and the
second its conography by Avril Henry, The lTormer helps to bridge the eredibility gap
in coneeiving cathediuls like Exeter as a blaze of colour externally; the latter analyses
in depth the significance of the figures, Vivginia Jansen studies the opposile end of the
cathedral in an imporlant contribution on the design and building sequence on the
eastern avca between 1270 and 1310 in which she analyses its development in detail;
in her wareds ‘a jigsaw puazzle on o manumental scale’. Her conclusion points Lo Lhree
miasters’ hands in the design, wilh influences from both the Court and from the north-
vast and Cistercian architecture.

A detatled analysis of the role of Thomas of Witney, the architect of the nave and fit-
tings ol the l4th century cathedral, is contributed by Richavd K. Morris, basing bis
arguments primarily on & study of the mouldings and tracery of this perod tn the
cathedral. The decorated tracery of the relrochoir, preshytery and Lady Chapel is
examined by Georgina Russell and the perpendicalar East Window is analysed by her
Lo demonstrate its original decorated form. Her stylistic argument is supported hy
John Allan from an archaeslogieal stance in a supplementary nofe.

Philip MeAlcor deduces the veazon for the conslraction of 5t Kdmund's Chapel off
the novih nave aisle. He dates it firmly to the Ith century and postuliates its oviginal
use for o consistory courl. Another puzzle is examined by Bridgel Cherry in studyiug
the remarkable similarity hetween the Nying angels on the Ldth century Stapiedon
tomb and these un the tombs of Rishop Bronescombe and Statlord of the 14405 az well
as that of John Holand, Duke of Bxeler, lormerly in the hospital of St Katherine by
the Tower in London,

The early ld4th century architectural furnishings of the chair are the subject of
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Vevonica Sekules’ essay. The lost high altae revedas 15 discussed, along with the cele-
brated bishep’s throne of 1316717, and the serecn between the choir and the nave
whiich now lacks its medieval sculplures. Charles Troacy firmly dates the misericords
as no fater than 1244 on grounds of palbronage, relating Lhen stylistieally to Wells, A
smaber ‘Blting’ is the ring of Bishop Grandission which is deseribed in detail by John
Cherry.

The Romanesque origins of the cathedral ave cxhaustively considered by Maleolm
Thurlby who postulales a veconstruction of the L2th century building of which the
twin towers are now the principal survivors. He comments upon the sources of ils
design and the influence it had on local ecelesiastical architecture. The lost characl
thapel which stosd by the north-west corner of the eathedral {s the subject of Nichoias
Orme’s contetbution while John Thurmer deseribes carly views of the cathedral’s inte-
rior which show (eatures now lost, such as the background of the medieval rervedos
vhich survived until Seott’s 19th century replacement, and the 17th century hox prws
in he nave. Anna Hulberl reports on the polychrome decorvation of the roof bosses,
vetating it to Lhe documenlary records; the purchase of material to colour the bosses
aels as o eross-reforence for Ltheir dating, as expengive colours were onky emploved
tnee the hasses weore in place. She defines three groups of colouring styles in the first
uuarter of the LAlh century, as well ag discussing materials and iconography. A fur-
they My detatled aceount of Lthe teghniques and pigments of this decoration isn
vourse of preparation by her

Such o very bricef summary of these essays does ne justice to their enormously high
acudemic gquality and to the vast amount of maderial and information contained in
them. The contributors are all foremost in their flelds and every word is measured.
Many of the esanys need eonsiderable concentration o be absorbed since the informa-
tion i so compressed and some determination is requived in theie porusal. The vol-
ume is extremely well Hustrated with plans, drawings and pholographs (some in
colour) and contains a comprehensive bibliography an the cathadeal which itsell s a
major contribution. It has been immaculintely produced wnder the editorship of
Francis Kelly. Given these high standards and the retatively tinited market lor such a
specialised production, the price is pevhaps nol unreasanable. I has been kept down
by extensive subsidy from several bodies including Devon County and Exeter City
Coungils.

This is not a beginners work for the study of Fxcter Catbedral. Rather it should fol-
low in sequence from Bridget Cherry's 19880 revised version of Pevaner’s Buildings of
England volume on Devon, wherve the cathedral and its Dittings ave brilliangly anal-
ysed inoa single 22 page contribution, after which should come the volhue procduced
by the Dean and Chapler in 1991: Exeter Cathedral - o Celebration, The laeter, like
the BAA volume, consists of a series of cssays and [bur tout ol its 26) contributors
appear in both volumes, The information in it is more accessihle and systematic
perhaps than in the BAA volume bul this is beesuse the two are produced with differ-
ant objectives, wiltl the former tryving to approach a less specialised auwdience. If the
student of the cathedral can absorb all three works, he will not be lefl with many
unanswered questions.

Petor Child.

Torquay - The Place and the People, by John Pike, Torquay Cenlenary
Commitlee. 1992 180pp. €18 ISEN 0 95 19930 0 3 '

This ‘Cenlenary History', in a Bmited edition of 2000 copies, coudd well have boen
titled ‘Everything you have ever wanted to know about Torquay” IL s guile renark-
able assemblage of events povtraying the 1ife and life style of this Famous resort [ol-
lowing the granting of its Charter of Tneovporation in September 1892, Whicl is nat to
suggest Lhat this is some prosaic compilation ar mere source book. Instead, John Pike
has skillully woven his unrivalled srray of Facts into a moest readuble secount where
celebrities — Brnest Brown, Agatha Christic, Mike Sangster, Gliver Heaviside, Wally
Llamanond, Sir Henry Wood, Eden Phillpotts - vub shoulders with the town's '8 .
Bazaar', ils trams, fives and air raids, education, sports, leisures, and mueh e, giv-
ing a comprehensive mivroring of somelimes national, frequently local fand olten per-
sanall events over thase 100 vears.

[t is only by John Pike's meticulous noling aznd recording of quite branstont snippets
af intarmation that we can now know how, ‘when the erew of the (ierman navy tradn-
ing vessel "Schlesian’ played Torquay United in a benefit mateh in 19237, the whole
Leam gruve the Nazi salute during the playing of the British National Anthem’ or that
when wark commenead in 1924 on a new automalic leleplhione exchange, it was veport-
ed that ‘the nearest other exechanges are at Southampton Lo the East, Newport {Mon,)
Lo Lhe North and somewhere in Canada or America o the Wesl'!

Around a hundred photographie illustrations, many (rom the tura of the century
and previously unpublished. wee welt repraduced and appropriately enhance the text
whilst a chronology of major events 1892- 1992 pravides a wsefud vesume before Lhe
index of 400 or so entrics from Abhey Park to Yorkshire Suciety via GATT and the
[fiHes de 1a Croix.

John Pike’s experience, resenrch and conlacts as tarmer chicf librarian of Torbay,
coupled with an avid enthusiasm tor data slorage by computer, have enabled the pu}}
Heation by the Centenary Commillee tand, pleasantly. printed by the Doevonshive
Fress at Torquay itself) ofa volume, erammed Fall of Tuels yet essentially veadable and
ome which is very unlikely fo be surpassed.

Devid Bedmnnd
Harvest Fatlure in Cornwall and Devon. The Book of Orders and the Covn

Surveys of [623 and 1630-1. Sources of Cornish History, Vol, 1. ¢d. Fadd Creny
[nstitute of Cornish Studies, 1992,/ +L17pp. Paperback £9. [SBN 0 90356886 65 |

Pespite it title this (s not a bool abont famine and misery hut rather revends in lsei-
nating detail how the paternalislic Stuart slate set oul to combat bad harvests (with o
e amount of sueeess) by searching ont supplics of grain stored in farmers’ burmns and
gravaries and ensuring that it was offercd for sale in the local markets, as well ux reg-
uluting greain importz and exports and diseouraging brewing. In his articles in the
Agriciltural History Review (Vol. 12, 1964 and Vol. 16, 1968) on *Harvest Fluctuations
aned English Beanomice Hislory, 1480- 1758 W.Gi. Hosking charts the course of linglish
harvests by the use of wheal prices, contrasting yearly prices with a 31 year moving
average. The harvest of 1822 was badly affected by the wenther The national average
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price of a bushel of wheat rose to 468 shillings against the 35 shillings of the 31 year

average —a rise of 26,1 por cent, but the hanvesl of 1630 was much worse. The nation-
al average wheat price rose to 54 shillings « bushel, 47.8 per cent higher than the 31
year average, and was specially bad in the west. This had the potential lor serons
problems.

In his substantial introduction to this meticulousty edited book, Todd Gray shows
how the government reacted and sets their actions in the context of the regional econ-
omy, Harvest [ailures were no new event and the povernment had well established
procedures for dealing with them which were sel out in Buoks of Orders, These had
been issued al different dates in the sixteenth century and were peviodically up-dated,
In 1622 ithe government re-printed the 1608 edition, which ia re-produced by Gray,
The Privy Council wrote to the sheriffs of Devon and Cornwall instructing them to
summen the local Justices of the Peace. They met in small groups to.examine the
parishes in thetr hundreds, or groups of hundreds. They had to tell the Privy Council
how much grain was still in store and how many acres had been planted. They also
had to regulate the markets, control the prices, prevent profiteering, see that the poar
were supplind with grain ‘hy our persuasion somewhat under the price of the mavket’
as happencd at Crediton in February 1624, and suppress unnecessary alehouses. All
the surviving Justices’ veports for Uevan wod Cornwall are reproduced heve lor 1822-
3 and 1630-1, and provide a most valuable souree, not only for local history, but for
nativnal as well, sinee the reports nré rure foe much of England. Gray also relates the
agrictltural ceonomy to the rapidly growing fsheries both in loeal waters and Lo the
Newtnundiand banks, showing how Lhe Hzhing hoats competed for supplies of grain,
bhut also provided a substantial supply of ish to supplement peoples’ diets when coro
was in short supply.

The Devon and Cornwall reports are particularly interesting because, in adedition to
the general comments, in two cases the sheriffs reburned to the Privy Council the
detailed house to house surveys which the JPs had carried out. These were for the
hundreds of Coleridge and Stanboreugh in South Devon for 1622 and for the hundred
of Pydar in north central Cornwall in 1630, The most substantial farmers in each vil-
lage were visited and the amounts of corn in each farm, and for cach parish, were
earefully noted. So also were the number of people in their households. These aver-
aged 9 or 10, but in some: cases were mueh lavgee My, Champernowne at Dartinglon
Hall inn 1823 had 40 people m his household, and pechaps not surprisingly had 'no
cornt Lo spare’. OF the 17 households Dsted 1n St Merryn parish, just wesl of Padslow
in 1830, 8 had 10 or more persons vesiding with them, ranging from Henry Michell's

30 ta Richard Vivian's 10. Between them the 17 farmers possessed T46 bushels of

wheat and 1,491 hushels of barley, but no pats, in contrast Lo Lanivel parvish in the
hilly, inland country southwest of Bodmin, where the tourteen listed farmers had 473
bushels of wheat, 256 bushels of barley but 6580 bushels of vats.

It is net possible in a short veview to do justice to the weulth of information ahout
southwestern farming in this book, but vver 700 farmers are nared, and local histori-
ans will find the book invaluahie as well as faseinating. Lthere are five good maps
loeating the hundreds and parishes and a uselul index of personal nomes. The cditor
and the Inslitute of Cornish Studies arve to be congratulated on thiz excellent book
wlich is intended to he the First in o sertes of sources for Cornish history.

Michael Havindon
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The Industrial Archaeology of Dartmoor by Helen Harris. Peninsula Press.
Fourth Editien. 19882, 240 pp Tlavdback £14.95. [SEN 1 872640 21 4

1993 has been designated ‘Industrial Heritage Year” by the English Tourist Board!
Doubtless this summer we will be encanraged (o spend money at the surprisingly
large oumber of visitor attractions that portray a sometimes all too romantieiscd pic-
ture of olde England at work. Bul THY also gives us the spur Lo spend time reaching
beyond the heritage-packaged product and developing a serious understanding of our
reat industrial history, There ave a fow better places to do this than Dartmoor, and for
Dartmoor in sl its facets there is ne Boer guide than this very welcome new edition of
Helen [Harris's elassic book.

Readers of The Devon Historian necd no reminding that they tgnove ar their peril
the rich seams of gvidence that lie duried in our industrial landscapes. Nar any longer
can we gvoid breaching the absolete boundaries that have too long kept apart history
and archacology te the detricient of both, Over the past thirty vears vich new veins of
industrial archaeodogy have been opened up through the splendid eiforts of individual
researchers and local groups. And for many veaders, their fist introducetion to indus-
trial archaeology will have eome through the numerous books on the subject pub-
lished by David and Charles from their (itlingly located hase al Newton Abboet raitwity
slation. .

Helen Harris’s Dartmonr volume, which fivst appeaved in 1968, had its origins here
as did Fraok Boeker's companion study of the Tamar Valley, Now, twenty-five years
on, we have o fresh edition of The Industrinl Archacologe of Dartmioor ‘revised and
updated [or the 19905" and attractively published by Peninsula Press. Owaers of the
first edition will be relieved Lo find that the oviginal format, which led the book to be
such a friend on the bookshelf and guide in the fickd, is sl intact. The book is divided
nto bwo main pacts ~ a discussion of the bewildering range of industries that have
come and gone an Dartmoor, tollowed by a gazetteer of the main features of intevest,
One of the boolcs preat strengths is the seope of its coverage. It is nob just wbout mines
and leats, Its pages move casily on Lo candle and glass Factovies, and an jeeworks, on
which the author has done detailed research. Even agriculture is treated as part of
the industrial stovy — 1t s havd to resisi exploring references to the pinneering stucy
of reaves to relive one of the great discoveries made on Dartmoor this contury, (p. 145)

What is new aboutthe 1992 edition is that the lext has been revised in key areas to
take account of recent resenrveh. A valuable updated biblingraphy is also inchuded and
the opportunity has bevn taken to add additional iHustrations Lo the text. Thus any-
one who is doubtful shout recognising a potato cave whoen they see one, now has a
photograph to go by, and a fine view of tinwerkings at Brisworthy Burrows (which
have a doeumented date of 11684 Lakes ity rightlal place as o frontispiece.

This new edition vecords more than changes duc to recent researeh. Its pages also
dovument the tolf that time and developraent have takeen on the industrial vemaios of
Dartmoor pver the last quarler century. The early phutograph of the woellen mills in
the heart of Buckfastleigh is now a poigonant memorial fullowing the demalition of so
much ol the complex in 1976, And those who seek to find the mill that made the evime
son eloth for the uniforms of the Nizam of Hyderabad's bodyguard (Cleave Mill at
Sticklepathi will discover that sinee 1968 ‘the main mill building has been demolishad
and the site redeveloped’.

Faced with losses such as this, veaders may well begin to wonder how muel more
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will have pone belore Lhe Tourist Board next =ces fit to launch an [ndustrial Heritage
Year. The difficaltios English Heritape secin to have in giving statutory protection to
industrial sites and landseapes can only mcerense people’s concern, 11t was less than
ten yeais age that i government Inspecior of Ancient Monuments fetl able to inform a
public inguiry thal a magnificent and highly visible tinworking complex on Dartmoor
could nol be prolected as il was not ‘o work of man’),

[Fortunalely, other authwritios are taking & more positive approach. The Dartmoor
National Park Authorvity, whe have aepported Lhis new edition, are conmnimitted to con-
serving industrial sites, and the National Trust has recently repaired the Whenl Boetsy
engine house which features en the front cover.

But Lthe key to ensuring thot Davtmoeor’s industrial past has a future lies mainly in
pubbic apinion, just as further researvch inko the hstary of that past must rely lurgely
on the efforts of ludividuals and tocal groups. Helen Huarvis's bool (with ity easy Now-
ing style that stems fram the aulhor’s good fortune to have been born on Lhe fringes ol
Lhre moor as well as fram her experience in serions journalism) has been responsible
for doing much to stimulate awareness in both aveas over the puast bventy-five yeavs,
We have long lookid back to 1988 and seen what a pioneering publivabion fndustria
Archacology of Dartmoor was, This welcome new edition will ensure that the next
generation of readers can be equally tuspived.

Simon T¥mmes

The Saxon Foundation of Totnes, by Don Stansbury, Tolnes Museum Soctety, 70
Fore Street, Tornes, 1992, 63pp., £2.50.

Any attempt to explain the origing of an historic town such as Thines deserves a warm
weleome, This modest volime ix no exception and iy notable for the clarity of the lan-
puage with which the unfamiling material is explained, afthough the voval” stalus of
the burgh is perhaps vver stressed! The navvative is largely free of the technical termas
uged by the more eomventional medievalists, bul those which are necessary ave clearly
defined. The text is strongly supported by good clear diagramatic maps, alihough the
views and coins have not reproduced as well as they might have done.

The argument regarding the dating ol the founditian of Saxon Totnes, between 902
and 909, ;and Lending toward a later date, is pevsuasive and draws on the work of
recogmised schislars, The whole hoolklet has been carvelully vesearchod, and the prinei-
pal sources avoilable to the historvian of early Tolnes are uscd in context, and
enhanced by pertinent commaents, The aceound of the Brutus story might be regarded
as arindulgence in a publication with this title, but it is undoubtedly part of the early
leritage of the town. The central section is much coneerned with the wider Wessex
seene, bul comes back to the imrnediale locality with an eminently reasonable discus-
stor of the alternative sites for the Habwell of the ‘Burghat Hidage'. The concluding
seetiong regarding the lay-out and position of the Saxon burgh is highly relevant. as it
15 the: Totnes we all know Lo-day.

The purist might query one or two minor points, but the whole is eminently read-
able and Don Stanshury and the Totnes Muscum Society have done us all a service in
producing this useful and inleresting booklet.

SJohn Bosanko
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Tavistock’s Yesterdays, Episades from her history, 8, by G. Wandenck, (992,
Published hy the auther 87pp. Numerous tlustrations. £3.95.

Ome of the benefits of asquiring a copy of Gerry Woodeoek’s talest annua) publication
ts that — for this veviewer at least — a number of earefully snipped-out articles from
issues of the previaus year’s Tavistock Times-Gezette ean be discarded. But the advan-
tage is groater, tor here, in most convenienl and nttenetive style, such articles which
the author has previously contributed to the newspaper are repraduced, usually in
expanded lorm, Logether with further chapters concerning Tavistack's history, The
1992 edition includes such subjects as: the Dissolution of the Abbey Goosie Fair,
Tavistock and the Civil War, and « lengthy and gripping aceount of evenrs survound-
ing a tragic muvder at Peter Tavy a century ago. There is alse study of nineteenth cen-
tury Lown developments under the patronage of the Bedfords, eulminating in the *sale
aof the century’ and the dispesal ol most of that eslate’s ‘Tavistock property in 1911
This series of books is popular, a useful and entertaining source of facls nbout
Tavistack. Perhaps in his modesty, Mr Weodeock does not recognise the polentinl
interest of his researches to other historians and particularly those of the fulure,
many of whom would doubtless be even more grateful if he were to include notes on
his sources of reference.
Helon Harris

Reactions in Devon to Invasions Three Studics, by Ross Whitehend, Cart Hrazier
and Jane Whitcher A-Level Personul Studies Series: 2 Published by the Devanshirve
Association 1992, £2.95,

This attractive booklat makes available to every one interested in Devon history three
studies produced by students at Seuth Devon College tor their A-level exam. The Lop-
ies, Romans, Novmans and World War 2 refugees, cover the widest possible timespan.
The editor must have seratched his head for a title to provide same excuse for printing
thum together,

The studies are publishied not simply as examples ol what ean be achieved by stu-
dents at this level, They make a real comtribution te scholarship, Kesa Whitchead,
who went on to gain a lirst-clazs degree in archacology in Reading, wrote o mature
amnd intelligent survey of the relatively minov influence of the Roman invasion on
Devon, bul the noveity and intevest of his contribution comes from his analysis of
Roman esins found by metal-detectors in marshes by the River Teign. The vverall dis-
tribution of finds of Roman coins in Devon shows carly activity west of Exeter, but no
tater coins to mateh those found in Bast Devon. The second study, by Carl Brazier,
writben with Lhe brealhless enthusiasm ol o young animal let into a fresh field, makes
interesting new use of the mass of statistics in the Domestuy survey, He analyses the
differences recorded in rent-levels, number of staves and types of animals on church
land ax opposed to royal land, and puts forward convineing explanations. Jane
Whitcher found that little hud heen written about evacuess in Devon. She assembled
anecdotal evidenee to fill out the official framework, covering the cxperiences of host-
families, teachers and the evacueces themselves.

The work contains several errors of spelling or proofreading scatterved through the
texi, e g ‘Nanstallion' for Nanstallon.

Hazel M. Harvey.
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OTHER PUBLICATIONS RECEIVED

Plymouth Histovians, by Crispin Gill. Old Plymouth Society Publications no. L,
1992, 19pp. Hustrated pamphlet with brief accounts of RN . Worth, LoJowitt,
H.Whitfield, C.W. Bracken, R AJ Walling, C.Gill. Free to members of Old Plymouth
Socicty, annual subseription £5. Flon. Sce. N.J.Casley, Carveaslys, 94 Glendower Road,
Peverell, Plymouth PL3 4L1LL

Robinson’s Directory of Paignton, ‘including gentry, clergy and other inhabitaots,
schools, churches and chapels, post-office repulations, Indgings’. Printed in Paignion in
1851, this 1992 issue has been edited and published by John Peniney. The carvliest
directory known to Paignton, this 24-page liniled edition, which includes a smali plan
of Paignlon in 1863, is obtainable locally, price £1.50.

NOTICES

SEMINAR ON 15TH CENTURY DARTMOOR

As the fivst slage ol preparation for the 500th Anniversary of the Grent Court of Deven
Tinners held at Crockerotor an 11 Seplember 1494, a day seminar is to be held at the
Two Bridges Hotel on Satweday 17 April 1993,

The anniversary events ave being planned jointly by the Darlmoor Tinworking
Research Group and Theatre of the Heart, an envirenmental performance group.

The purpose of the seminar is Lo stimulate ideas, rescireh and vesponses. The day
will consist of presentations aboul aspects of 15th century Dartmoor society and eul-
Lore, plus the setting out of preliminary ideas tor the anniversary programme (which
will extend over six months and be based on the towns of Chaglord, Ashburten,
Plympron and Tavistock) The day will inclucde a walk to Crockerntor itself,

Speakers will include Tom Greeves on the tioners, James Crowden on farming, and
othors on sacred and secular music of the fate 15th century. Morna Watson will talk
about Theatve of the Heart and Desmond Truscott will lead a workshop,

The cost of the day will be CL5.00 per head. This will inelude coffee, lunch and Lea.

If you are interested in attending, please send an s.a.e. toTom Greeves, 17 Godstone
Road, St. Margarets, Twickenham TW1 LJY who will =end you o detailed hooking form,

A4

CONSERVATION OF THE HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT

Further to his article in The Devon Historian, 44 {April 19921, Simon Timms is leading
an Exeter University evening class Lhis spring on the topic of ‘Conserving Owr Past:
Why do we bother™ The course of six lectures and two field trips will examine the con-
servation of histarie buildings, town eentres, archaeological siles and landsecapes, and
alse historic parks. It should be of interast to anyone wishing to study the issues under-
lying the Devon heritage.

The course, which is based ut the Queen’s Building, Exeler University, starts at
7.10pm on Tuesday 27 April. No prier hooking is required, just turn up (or phone
Exctor 411802 for details).

APOLOGY

Keith 8. Perkins expresses his regrets for an inadverctent transposition of caption mate-
rial with an tHustration used with his article: "Opening-up south Devon - the Hopking
connection’ polilished in The Devon Historian 45, 1t velers o the elevation printed on
page L4, in which the track of the Plymouth & Dartimoar Railway does not, in fact.,
appear



NEWS FROM LOCAL SOCIETIES

Brixham Museum The Devon History Society visited Brixham at the time of the
Loreentenary Celebrations of the landing of William of Qrange and were able to see the
Musenm at firsl hand, It was a weli-attended meeting but there have been changes
made sinve and this is an ‘update’ as well 215 o restatement of Brixham Museum und
History Society's ongoing activitios.

Members saw the National Coastguard Museum falthough the ‘National” has been
dropped) but now a modest aunual grant is received to help with its maintenance. One
ol the displays seen there is already consigned to history. For well over a century coast-
guards hauled their hreeches buoy rescue gear over rough ground te cliffs and head-
lands in the foulest weather to launeh their vockets Lowards vessels in distress on the
racks below. Brixham is now one of the tew places where relies of this operation
vemain. lu February 1988 Paul Channoen, the Secerclary of State for Transport
aunounced that the brecehes-huey was to be withdrawn lrom service and seafarers
would in Puture have to rely on helicopters and lifehaats fov reseue. The breeches-huoy
had been used only twice in five years to save life although they had been deployed Lo
asuatlies about 50 times. During the previous twa years lilebonls had been launched
5047 Limes and halicopters on 1554 soriies. [n addition the rockets were reaching the
enel of their lives: 200 miles of cordiyze needed maintaining and keeping crews trained
was comsidered prohibitive! There was another modern hazard: liguid gas tankers
wonld nol welcome aovaekel fired at them, the Manhy Mortar and Boxer Rpcket have
gone [ar over,

It may be recalled that, al the time of the visit, there was a Fishertes Exhibition {set
up by the Notienal Maritime Museum) stifl open down by the quayside. This was closed
down some time ago und & private venture The Perils of the Deep’ taolc its place. Beloye
this happened material relevant to Brixham and its fishing flect was passed to the
Muscom and is displayed in the Mavitime Galery. Fhis is a major development isince
1088}, prrpose-built hehind the original building. Openerd by Antony Steen MP in April
L8G4, 11 is the society’s inust ambitious project ever and was achieved orly with financial
nssistance from the Barough Council 1ts main purposc is to shew the history of
Brixham's most important industry, lishing, This is done by displays of ‘the tools of the
trade’, amonyg many other exhibita. However, the outsianding exhibits are the scale
models of trawlers, made by amaleurs with loving hands which konew and were ahle fo
veproduce aveuralely in minnitare, every spar, rope and sail on bomrd.,

The ground Hoor displays include, as memhers may recall, roems with contents
Lukest from local hames. The Yesidents’ ave garbed in orviginal clothes of the time,
Although stornge facilities are limited, the society hax been able to acquire a small eol-
foction of histarie garments. Earlier this vear it was possible ta hold ‘an evening of nos-
talgia' when volunteer mannequing, including quite young ones, maodetled some of the
reight ol day wear

The Mitseum was granted provisional vegistration with the Museums and Ciadleries
Commission early in 1981 A marathon task of vecording (n Liplicate) the thousands
of items in the Society’s possession has been going on sinee then. These include the
many fragments flor example, parts of clay pipes and pottery) broughl down from
Berry Head after ‘digs’ there - particularly from the sites of the Napoleoniec War forts.

Repistration is considered ‘provisional’ m such museims as Brixham where ihere are
nu profussional curators employed, Members will be intorested in this recent appoint-
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ment of [ Michael Rhodes, formerly of the London Museum, as Curatorial Adviser to
the Boreugh of ‘Torbay ithts hag heen partly funded by Devon County Council and the
Area Museums Council for an initial periodr. Oune of his dutics is to give curatorial
advice and assistance to Brixham Museumn.

Recenl chunges in Lhe Museam have released the top floor far lihrary and other pur.
poscs, Books and a file of loeal newspapers are available to nu-:mhurs‘ but earlier this
summar it was decided, reluctantly, that charges (€100 per howrd would have to be
made for assistance given o non-members — new membors are, of cowrse, always wel-
come. Recent hehind-the-scenes tasks undertaken have involved the pl‘upm'a{tim‘s ol
worksheots, linked to the Museuny’s displays, for Lop juniers/lower secondary
schoolehildlren, Dy Michacl White, who was 2 veluntary helpey in the ‘Chained Labrary’
at Hereford Cathedrat befove moving to Brixham, has completed his C()mputr:r—(‘nta.r.—
fogue of the Suciety’s fine colleetion of photographs, He is now lvoking for a new tusk.
Thue late Arthwr Bigs manuscvipt History of Briviion came back to Tovbay some years
ago. ‘This comprihensive work (some 200,000 words long) was only in prefiminary
dratt. It has heen edited (and subsequenthy retypedt mostly thirough the eflorts of 011;’.3
menther, Mr Derele Wilson, working on it over a three perted. It has just been made
available to members in Brixham: coples ave, however, being deposited at the
Westeountry Studies Library in Exeler and at Torquay Muscuo '

Farly in World War 2 ships of the Belgian fishing Meet sailed into Brixham Lo escape
the Germans who had just invadetl their coumtry, They brought families and posses-
sions with them. settling down to a new lifi: i the town for the Quration’. Some lefl
after the War but sume stayed. In September 1991 a Belgian television erew visited
Brixham o recard the story of the Pamithies who had arrived 50 vears envlier. A copy of
the finished production on video is ane af the society's more recent acguisitions, ‘

. Current coneerns are; increased ibsucance {following the MMI collupsel; Dtiing secu-
rily alarms, and the need loe w lift for the elderly and disabled — but, within the lmit-
ed buundaries of thé praperty, tmprovements conbinue lo be made. The building was
once the town’s police station — and the cells remain, Gradually these arve being alleved
for additional displays. The sortety exists an o limited budget, partly in gi'dnt forn:
from the Local Authority. However at the present time there is oo intention of wRing
this as a ‘fock-up to hold either u covncillor or official v ransom until further funds ave
fortheoming — or is there!

John Pile

I_)m‘tmouth Historieal Research Group. In Autumn 1991 some memboers of Lhe
Dartmouth Museum Soctety decided to form a group whaose object wats o eneourage
research into the history of Dartmouth and the swreunding villages, and Lo leh!j,.v.h
the results in a series of stvall booklets. 15 wasg alse lelt that mamy artickes were already
printed i various speeialist magazines, incloding The Decon Historian, which were
not canily avatlable o loeal people who were not members of the socicly concerned. It
was therefore desirable to veprint them and keep them ax part 6f an ongoing cotlection
in the Muscum, - . >
The group of ten people has met several times and has now produced the st three
hoolddeis. available for sali: at €1 from Dartmouth Museum, the Harbour Bookshap, the
Newcomen Engine Soviety. and some other vutiets. One apecially written was The
History of Dartmounth Hospital, by Dr. WG, Keane — a retived local (2.P Another was
The Holdsworth and Newman Famities ie Dortriouthe, by Ray Freemean, This was orig-
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inally published by the Devon History Seciety whose permission 1o reproduce it is
acknowledped. The third was The Newesmen Family Residences in Dartmouth, by Tvor
Smart, un account of the various houses lived in by the family of the inventor Thomas
Neweanen in the 17th century, and incidentally recreating much of the geagraphy of
the town frum the Borough callection of leases. Ouviginally published in the Newtomen
Society journal, it is reprinted with acknowledgement.

We have half s dozen more booklets lined up for printing during the corming autunm
and winter. Genevally our methods are to produce them by desk-top publishing meth-
ods, and to work with a shae-string budgel which enables us to print only small guan-
tities if demand is not expected to be high. We hope to gain wider support by arvanging
tatlks for general members of the Museum Seciety, and that this will in turn encourage
more active workers Lu join us.

ay Freeman

The Paignton Preservation and Local History Society was founded three years
ago and has o membership of some 90 members. Among the numerous projeets il has
undertaken are an appeal towards the restoration of a 1808 seraffiti mosaie and the
suecessful preservation of Primley Meadow, the last green space left in Paigraton, on
which the owners had planned a housing development. Chalrman Mrs Peggy Parnell
waould welcome contacts from any pripective members or any infirtination about the
Belfie)d tamily and the origins of their residence at Primiey Hifl Mrs. Parnell lives at
21 Penwill Way (tel. Paignton 558065}

Princetown and District History Club, ‘the ouly history club on Dartmoor” main-
tains its hvely and friendly monthly activities, with 70-80 members aged 5-83.
Subseription is £1 a year, non-members 50p. The 1992 programme includes: 6 April
*Old dame schools of Dartmoor’ 1Mary Stanbrook, Princetown Primary Schoal 7.30
p.miy | June Posthridge history walk with Rob Steemson (meet Postbridge car park 7
pa}, and 7 September ‘ol Princetown’ (Dave German, Primary School 7.00). Further
details from chairman David German, South Hessary House, Princetown PL20 688,
tel, 082289 424).

Crediton Area History and Museum Society, BEvents up to June include: 5 April,
Arthur King-Robinsgn on ‘Newcombes' {at Trevella, off Western Roadhy; 10 May visit to
Okehampton Castle thluebell time), meet at castle at 3 pom. 14 June visit fo Fursdon
Hause (followed by cream tea), meet al Fursdon 3 pom. For further information vinyg
Crediton 772270 or 7720445,

Okd Plymouth Society. The address of the Hon. Sec, N.Jf. Cagely, s apw; Carcastys,
94 endower Road, Peverell, Plymouth PLE 41D,

To all local societies: You are invited to send in items ol news relating to activities, spe-
ctal interests, subjects of vesearch, Jocal museums or artefnets ote. for publicaton in
The Deven Historian. The Editor will be delighted to receive them.
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Minutes of the 23rd Annual General Meeting
held at Streatham Court, University of Exeter
on Saturday 31 October 1992

[n the Chair: the Prasident, Professor lvan Roots
Present: c. 47 members of the socicty.

Apologies: Prof. N. Orme, Mr. R. Broad.

Minutes

The‘ minutes of the last Annual General M ceting (printed in The Devon Historian.
April 1992) were read and approved.

Matters Arising

There were no matters arising.

Hon. Secretaries’ Reports,

Mrs. 5. Stirling veparted that the society is now registered as a charity under its
revised title, Lefters sent to MPs expressing opposition to the possible frapmentation
of archives should loesl government be rearganised bad net with favourable replies.

The restoration of Patersun’s Cross at Ottery St Mary was being cavried out.

The chairman, Prof. . Youings, will represent the society at the forthcoming public
shgeiry concerning Braunton Great Field,

A register of historie lahdscapes is to be kept ol County Hall, and a photugraphic
competition had been sugpested.

Mrs. Stirling thanked her fellow secretaries and Mr. D). Edmund for their help, and

Lt 4 ‘i " - T R " * Tcit M
Mr. (. Tatham, and Mrs, H, Harris, for organising the day conlerences al Membury
anel Tavistock respectively.

Mz J. Pike, membership seeretary, repurted that a separate list of corporate mem-
bevs was available. An updaled memborship list would be sent out durd ng the next
twelve months. The president thanked all the secretaries for theiv work du ring the
year

Hon. Treasurer's Report

N 2 Ty s TR . .
Mr. D. Edmund reported that the society had 408 individual and family menthery,
und 31 corporale members. The linancial situstion was stable, and there was 1a
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